Alcohol, sport and domestic, sexual & gender-based violence





Contents

• Summary	3
• About us	4
 Introduction 	5
 Domestic, sexual and gender- based violence 	7
Alcohol and crime	8
 Alcohol and DSGBV 	9
Children's issues	12
 Sport and alcohol marketing 	14
 Sport and alcohol consumption 	20
 Sport, alcohol and DSGBV 	23
 Conclusion and recommendations 	26



2

Summary

There is a significant body of research suggesting a complex relationship between sports, alcohol consumption and domestic violence. Studies have found a strong but complex link between alcohol and domestic abuse, suggesting that alcohol can either be seen as a contributing cause, an aggravating factor or a trigger of violent behaviour in domestic (and other) settings.

Given that alcohol is deeply intertwined with sport and alcohol is a risk factor for Domestic, Sexual and Gender-based Violence, it is important that there is a whole-of-government approach to alcohol in Ireland.

There is a clear need for increased provision of policing and services for victims including children.

Central to addressing these difficult and complex issues is the need for prevention measures.

Reducing alcohol consumption across the whole of population has a significant role to play. This can be achieved by using the World Health Organisation's 'best buys' - controls on pricing, marketing and availability.

While sports, alcohol, and domestic violence are interrelated in certain contexts, efforts to address and mitigate these issues must focus on changing cultural norms and creating systems of support for both those affected by and those at risk of engaging in violence. Therefore, there is scope for athletes, clubs, counties, provinces, and national governing bodies to play a role in tackling alcohol harm and DSGBV, while it is imperative that government and state agencies ensure that the Public Health (Alcohol) Act (2018) is implemented in full.

Alcohol Action Ireland believes there is a need to tackle the manufactured relationship linking alcohol and sport by tackling the mechanisms deployed by the alcohol industry to create and sustain this link.

To achieve this it is clear it is time to ban alcohol sports sponsorship.



About us

Alcohol Action Ireland (AAI) was established in 2003 and is the national independent advocate for reducing alcohol harm. We campaign for the burden of alcohol harm to be lifted from the individual, community and State, and have a strong track record in campaigning, advocacy, research and information provision.

Our work involves providing information on alcohol-related issues, creating awareness of alcohol-related harm and offering policy solutions with the potential to reduce that harm, with a particular emphasis on the implementation of the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018. Our overarching goal is to achieve a reduction in consumption of alcohol and the consequent health and social harms which alcohol causes in society.

Alcohol Action Ireland directors:

- Pat Cahill, former President ASTI (Company Secretary)
- Aidan Connaughton, Chartered accountant, former partner and head of risk, Grant Thornton
- Paddy Creedon, Recovery Advocate
- Michael Foy, Head of Finance, Commission for Communications Regulation
- Prof Jo-Hanna Ivers, Associate Professor, Addiction: Public Health & Primary Care, Trinity College Dublin
- Prof Frank Murray (Chair) Consultant in Hepatology & Gastroenterology. M.B., B.Ch. B.A.O., M.D., F.R.C.P.I., F.R.C.P. (Ed)
- Dr Mary T. O'Mahony, Consultant in Public Health Medicine & Medical Officer of Health, Department of Public Health, Public Health Area D (Cork & Kerry)
- Dr Bobby Smyth (Vice Chair), Consultant Child & Adolescent Psychiatrist

Patron: Prof. Geoffrey Shannon

Alcohol Action Ireland is a registered Irish charity Registered charity number: 20052713 Company number: 378738 CHY: 15342



4



5

Introduction

Domestic, sexual and gender-based violence (DSGBV) remains a pervasive issue in Irish society, impacting women, men and children in diverse and devastating ways.[1] DSGBV is not solely an issue for those directly affected – it is an insidious, society-wide problem that touches every community, every workplace and every home in Ireland.[2] These crimes are a blight on society and encompasses different forms of physical, sexual and psychological abuse.

Recent findings from the 2022 Sexual Violence Survey, published by the Central Statistics Office (CSO), found that 40% of adults have experienced sexual violence at least once in their lifetime, with women

disproportionately affected at 52% compared to 28% of men. Younger women, particularly those aged 18-24, reported even higher rates, with 65% having experienced sexual violence in their lifetime. Furthermore, in Ireland, one in four women who have been in a relationship have been abused by a current or former partner.[3]

Since the 1990s
DSGBV has emerged as a human rights concern that warrants legal and political recognition at the highest level, where the State has an obligation to safeguard victims"

A 2014 EU-wide study by the European Union Fundamental Rights Agency (FRA) reported that 26% of women in Ireland have experienced physical and/or sexual violence since age 15, and 41% of Irish women know someone in their circle of family or friends who have experienced intimate partner violence.[4] While the National Office for the Prevention of Domestic, Sexual and Gender-based Violence stated that 29% of women in Ireland have been affected by domestic abuse.[5] Data from Courts Services from 2019 shows that 23,500 applications were received under Domestic Violence legislation, while more recent research conducted by Women's Aid, on young women and men in Ireland, found that 1 in 5 young women and 1 in 11 young men have experienced intimate partner abuse.[6]

However, since the 1990s DSGBV has emerged as a fundamental human



rights concern that warrants legal and political recognition at the highest level, and as an area where the State has an obligation to safeguard victims.[7] While the last two decades have seen an increased focus on DSGBV, the reality is much more work is needed to eradicate this human rights abuse. Central to this work is the need to investigate the factors which are drivers of domestic and gender-based violence.

Increased rates of DSGBV have been associated with events such as public holidays, seasonal variations, disasters and economic crises,[8] however, there is also a body of research suggesting a complex relationship between sports, alcohol consumption and domestic violence.

Alcohol Action Ireland considers it has an important contribution to make to the national debate on eradicating DSGBV. Therefore, this policy paper will look at alcohol consumption around sports events, live and/or televised, and the role alcohol plays in incidences of domestic violence.



Domestic, sexual and gender-based violence

Domestic, sexual, and gender-based violence can happen to anyone, and it can take many forms – psychological/emotional abuse, sexual abuse, and physical abuse.[9] For instance, in 2023, Men's Aid had 8,682 contacts to their domestic violence support service with victims ranging in ages from 18 to 90+ years across the country.[10] In their annual report, the charity outlined how on average victims contacted their support service four times.

However, the reality is that DSGBV in Ireland is overwhelmingly perpetrated against women and against children. Shockingly, 2023 was a record-breaking year for all the wrong reasons with Women's Aid recording the highest level of disclosures of domestic abuse in its 50-year history. According to their annual report there were 28,638 contacts through frontline services detailing 40,048 disclosures of abuse – an 18% increase on the previous year. The disclosures to Women's Aid included 35,570 reports of domestic abuse against women and 4,478 reports of abuse of children.[11]

The CSO Sexual Violence Survey 2022 also made for grim reading. The survey outlined how four in ten adults in Ireland have experienced sexual violence at least once in their lifetime, with 26% of adults having experienced sexual violence as an adult and 29% as a child. Again, as with domestic violence, women experience higher levels of sexual violence in their lifetime than men, with women almost four times more likely to have experienced sexual violence.[12] Since early 2015, the number of recorded sexual offences in Ireland has been increasing.[13] In 2023, the number of reported sexual offences was 2,884.[14]

Furthermore, since 2020, 38 women have been violently killed in Ireland, with 25 more women killed in Northern Ireland over the same period.[15] Shockingly, it remains the case that the most dangerous place for women is their own home as the nightmare of violence and abuse most commonly will be at the hands of a current or former intimate male partner.[16] Indeed, recent research led by the Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland (RCSI) found domestic femicides accounted for 74% of cases in Ireland between 2012–2023.[17]

Alcohol and crime

Alcohol and crime have a closely interconnected relationship, with alcohol consumption being a contributing factor to crime and antisocial behaviour. Alcohol plays a key role in crimes such as public order offences, domestic violence, assault and murder, as well as rape and sexual assault.[18] Many studies have demonstrated significant, and positive, associations between alcohol consumption and rates of criminal violence, and we can say with some confidence that more drinking tends to result in more violence, and less drinking tends to result in less violence.[19]

While alcohol use is neither necessary nor sufficient for violence to occur,

research shows that more drinking tends to result in more violence, and less drinking tends to result in less violence, therefore addressing alcohol use could reduce the frequency and severity of violence in the home and interrupt intergenerational cycles of abuse.[20]

Addressing alcohol use remains an underutilised strategy in the violence prevention field; indeed, relatively few prevention efforts intentionally address alcohol use"

Given the relationship between alcohol and violence, it is clear that alcohol reduction strategies are a significant defence against alcoholrelated violence. If we reduce alcohol consumption through controls on price, marketing and availability, there should be a corresponding reduction in alcohol-related violence.

However, addressing alcohol use remains an underutilised strategy in the violence prevention field; indeed, relatively few prevention efforts intentionally address alcohol use or draw on effective strategies from the alcohol field.[21] Therefore, reducing alcohol consumption and reducing alcohol-related violence should be key goals of government, which is especially true in relation to DSGBV.

Alcohol and DSGBV

Ask any woman if she would cross the street to avoid a drunk and aggressive man, and the answer would be unequivocally yes. But when women are at risk in their own homes, they don't have the luxury of walking away, and they're often told the threat is not real." [22]

The consistent link between alcohol and domestic and gender-based violence has led to the recognition of alcohol as a "risk factor" for intimate partner violence by the World Health Organisation,[23] however, there has been relatively little research examining how alcohol affects violence, at least in part because of concerns that such research would be used to justify the use of alcohol as an excuse for violence against women.[24]

Alcohol is not, and never will be, an excuse or explanation for domestic violence. However, it is a known driver of domestic violence. Research continuously identifies alcohol use as one of the most consistent risk factors for domestic violence and violence against children.[25] Indeed, alcohol has long been known to increase both the incidence and severity of physical and sexual violence within intimate relationships and families. [26]

International research also shows that the accessibility and availability of alcohol is closely linked to violence, the more alcohol outlets there are and the later they trade, the more violence we see, and vice versa. For example, a two-hour reduction in late-night trading hours in New South Wales, Australia, in the late 2000s was found to reduce reports of domestic violence by 29%. Unfortunately, the inverse was also proven when the New South Wales Government decided to extend alcohol sales by one hour in 2016, and a significant increase in family violence assaults was experienced.[27] In Northern Ireland, following the extension of licensing hours in October 2021, there has been a 17% increase in alcoholrelated crime.[28]

Alcohol-related crimes that take place in the home, particularly those associated with domestic abuse, can often go unreported to An Garda Síochána. However, we know from research that a "higher density of alcohol retailers is associated with greater incidences of violence, assault, and domestic violence".[29] Indeed, international research shows that density is "positively associated with rates of assault hospital admissions". [30] In Ireland, 73% of the population live within 300 metres of a licenced premises, with the number of off-licences increasing by 95% from 2003 to 2021.[31] This, coupled with low off-trade prices,[32] means Ireland has a growing trend in home drinking, with close to 50% of all alcohol bought in Ireland now purchased from the off trade.[33]

Alcohol can never be used as excuse for criminality, and this is especially true with incidents of domestic, sexual, and gender-based violence. Research shows that, in incidences of domestic abuse, it appears the role of alcohol is one of a facilitative nature, a contributing cause.[34] Research from Australia found that alcohol is involved in about 30-40% of both intimate partner and family violence. Similarly, national research from 2005 on domestic abuse in intimate partner relationships found that alcohol was a trigger for abusive behaviour in 34% of cases.[35] While, McGoldrick, Collis, and Mulligan, in their paper on 'Femicide in Ireland 2012–2023', found that in many cases the history of perpetrators' "... revealed a complex range of potential risk factors for the progression of IPV, including...alcohol and substance misuse...".[36] In addition, 2006 research found that alcohol was a factor in up to 70% of cases of domestic violence against women. [37]

Research shows alcohol to be a factor in up to 70% of cases of domestic violence against women

Alcohol is never an excuse or an explanation for rape or sexual assault. Yet, alcohol consumption is sometimes disgracefully used to blame victims or to diminish the responsibility of perpetrators. It must be unequivocally stated that sexual violence is never the victim's fault, and therefore the responsibility for assault always lies with the perpetrator,

0%

under any circumstances.[38] Nevertheless, alcohol is consistently found in a high proportion of those who perpetrate sexual assault.[39] The Rape Crisis Network Ireland has said that alcohol is the most common drug used in sexual assaults. The Rape and Justice in Ireland Report found that 76% of all rape defendants had been drinking at the time of the alleged offence.[40]

Despite the known role of alcohol as a driver of DSGBV, a 'Rapid Review of Prevention Approaches' in Australia which looked at actions to end domestic, family and sexual violence (DFSV) found that "a failure to consider DFSV in alcohol policy has allowed unprecedented growth in alcohol availability, both in the density of liquor outlets and the length of online delivery hours.".[41] The Review recommended that alcohol legislation be examined and strengthened. As a result, the national government in Australia in September 2024 agreed to carry out such an examination.[42]

Alongside this the South Australia government introduced draft legislation in December 2024 which includes clear primary objectives to prevent gendered violence and to restrict alcohol sales and delivery timeframes. The bill is the first of its kind in Australia, and affirms the South Australian government's commitment to reduce gendered violence through alcohol law reform. [43] Such action is in keeping with the developing international frameworks, which guide the global agendas around violence against women and children, and which now recognise reducing harmful alcohol use as an important prevention strategy.[44]



Children's issues

Children are often the unseen victims of domestic abuse. The European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights survey on violence against women found that 73 % of women who have been victims of violent incidents by their previous or current partner indicate that children living with them were aware of the violence.[45] It is well recognised that children's exposure to domestic violence is a serious Adverse Childhood Experience and that such children are victims in their own right. One third of children in Ireland have at least one parent who regularly binge drinks or is dependent on alcohol.[46]

Harmful alcohol use by a parent or caregiver has been shown to have a

range of detrimental consequences for children, including negative health, educational, and social outcomes.[47] Furthermore, given the close connection between alcohol and domestic violence it is likely that hundreds of thousands of children are living in homes with alcohol fuelled violence. Alcohol use is

Children's exposure to domestic violence is significantly correlated with child problems in the areas of social, emotional, behavioural, cognitive and general health functioning"

implicated in an increased risk of child maltreatment, including physical or sexual abuse and neglect.[48] Indeed, a review of studies examining the presence of both child maltreatment and intimate partner violence found that they occurred during the same period in 45–70% of studies.[49]

Children may experience domestic violence directly, but children who witness domestic violence may also be significantly affected. Findings from several reviews show that witnessing intimate partner violence can also negatively affect the development of children.[50] For example, one meta-analysis concluded that "children's exposure to domestic violence is significantly correlated with child problems in the areas of social, emotional, behavioural, cognitive and general health functioning."[51] Indeed, children in such circumstances may experience emotional and psychological harm, including anxiety, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder.[52] In some cases, this trauma can last well into adulthood.[53] Unfortunately, "some research has also shown that boys



who were exposed to domestic violence in their childhood homes are more likely to engage in domestic violence as adults, and girls who have been exposed to domestic violence as children are more likely to be victims of domestic violence in their adult lives".[54]

Despite the existing scholarship on alcohol and its accelerating role in DSGBV, many health professionals do not make the connection between parental problem alcohol use (PPAU) and possible physical and psychological abuse of children in the home. A study carried out by UCC and AAI found that 70% of mental health professionals receive no training on problem alcohol use in the home despite the serious psychological impacts on children and adolescents.[55]

Too often children are only considered once a parent presents with an alcohol problem or is in treatment. The reality is that children need services and supports independently of whether a parent is in treatment or not. Not acting is unconscionable as early interventions and support are essential to offset trauma and lifelong harm. Key in this is that all professionals – from teachers to mental health professionals, understand the impact of PPAU and have the resources to support children and families at a whole of population level, not just if there are child welfare concerns.[56]





of women who have been victims of violent incidents by a partner indicate that children living with them were aware of the violence



Sport and alcohol marketing

Alcohol sponsorship of sport is the keystone for a wide range of alcohol marketing activity in Ireland and abroad. An array of marketing activities are used to build links between alcohol, sports and elite athletes, which ultimately drives consumption of alcohol. Indeed, a systematic review of the 'Association Between Alcohol Sports Sponsorship and Consumption' reported a positive association between exposure to alcohol marketing and alcohol consumption.[57] In particular the research revealed there is a positive association between exposure to alcohol sports sponsorship and increased alcohol consumption amongst adult sportspeople and schoolchildren.[58] Essentially, advertising "activates" sports sponsorship to increase sales.[59]

While the alcohol industry representative bodies like to claim that there is no link between sponsorship and alcohol consumption, alcohol producers sponsor a wide range of sports events at home and abroad. In their annual report, Diageo states, "we are using sport to lift our brands, partnering with iconic sporting occasions giving us incomparable visibility across the globe".[60] This sponsorship includes Diageo building official partnerships with 20 different American NFL teams over the past five years, and closer to home, Guinness is the official partner of the Six Nations Rugby Championship and the official beer of the English Premier League. Furthermore, Carlsberg is advertised as the Official Beer Sponsor of the Football Association of Ireland.[61] With such hazardous advertising of alcohol, it is little wonder that international research indicates that participation in sport can be associated with increased rates of hazardous drinking.[62][63][64]

The purpose of marketing is to create a need or desire for a product. Alcohol is not a staple, it is not a necessary purchase, therefore a market must be created for it – and new drinkers must be recruited to create and expand that market.[65] From a commercial perspective, this makes sense for the alcohol industry because sport, especially sports such as football and rugby, have undergone rapid process of 'hypercommodification' which has resulted in increased presence and importance of sponsorship deals with alcohol producers.[66] Therefore, sport is particularly attractive for commercial sponsors, as it provides positive brand associations and a gateway to global audiences.[67]



For instance, Budweiser, which has been "the World Cup beer" since the 1986 tournament will again be the official beer of the 2026 tournament in North America, after brewer AB InBev renewed with FIFA.[68] Announcing the deal the chief marketing officer of AB InBev stated "FIFA World Cup tournaments are the most popular sporting events in the world" and AB InBev "are deeply connected to the fans and to football all over the world, which is why we're excited about extending the relationship with FIFA."[69]

Not to be outdone, Diageo provides sponsorship for football and rugby through Guinness. In 2024 Guinness engaged in its first ever global partnership in football by becoming the official beer of the English Premier League. Announcing the sponsorship a joint statement on the

Premier League website exclaimed: "As the most watched football league on the planet where games are broadcast into 900 million homes in 189 countries, Guinness will bring together the beautiful game and the beautiful pint through its activation of the partnership with the Premier League".[70]

At home, another Diageo brand, Rosckshore, recently became

 Carlsberg, sponsor of the FAI, in its most recent annual report, says: "Brand marketing is an investment in the Group's brands... to drive the sale of branded products, sales campaigns and sponsorships"

the official beer of the League of Ireland.[71] Announcing the partnership the Head of Beer at Diageo Ireland proclaimed that, "Through this partnership we are committed to investing in the passion of fans across the country. From local pubs to packed stadiums, Rockshore will be there, raising a pint to the magic of Irish football.".[72] Within the League of Ireland itself, Guinness recently partnered with Bohemian Football Club as sponsor of the club's 2025 away jersey. Speaking about the sponsorship deal, Marketing Director of Guinness Ireland said: "The partnership celebrates the coming together of two Dublin institutions, to promote and support modern Irish football and the League of Ireland – that's something we're incredibly excited to be part of."[73] Indeed, the jersey will even be on sale at the Guinness Storehouse at St James's Gate.[74]

Meanwhile the website for Guinness, the title partner and official beer of



the Six Nations Rugby Championship, states "We'll be making sure you get the most from the game, so you can be sure of an epic match day experience whilst enjoying a great pint of the black stuff!".[75]

Indeed, the alcohol industry often attributes sales increases directly to sports sponsorship activity. In their 2024 annual report Diageo stated: "Whilst Guinness has been the official partner of the Six Nations Rugby Championship since 2019, in 2024 the tournament helped it reach new heights. During this year's Six Nations, sales of pints of Guinness in stadiums were up 15% compared with 2022..."[76] Meanwhile Carlsberg, sponsor of the FAI, in its most recent annual report, says, "Brand marketing is an investment in the Group's brands... to drive the sale of branded products, sales campaigns and sponsorships."[77]

The relationship between sports sponsorship and increased sales of alcohol is not only of concern for the drinking behaviour of adults, but also of children. Research from Australia shows that children easily identify alcohol brands from sponsorship of sporting events, and this recognition influences children's behaviour.

Academics have documented the techniques used by industry to appeal to children, and to ensure that children associate sport with these products such as alcohol from an early age.[78] Indeed, Diageo is currently the Number 4 broadcast advertiser to children in Ireland [79] where 50,000 children start to drink every year. [80]

It was for these reasons that a central aim of the Public Health (Alcohol) Act (2018) (PHAA) was to reduce the direct or indirect promotion of alcohol products, especially to children. In order to achieve this, Section 19 of the PHAA legislated for a daytime broadcasting ban on alcohol advertising, with no advertisements for alcohol products on television from 3am to 9pm and on radio on a weekday from 3pm to 10am the following morning. The measure, which commenced on 10 January 2025, aims to reduce the level of exposure of children to alcohol marketing, which is known to be a key driver of both initiating alcohol use by children and increasing use.

Unfortunately, during the live coverage of the Ireland v England rugby match in the 2025 Six Nations we saw alcohol marketing being broadcast into the homes of hundreds of thousands of people, doubtless tens of thousands of the viewers were children. The advertising was a seamless

blend between Guinness and Guinness 0.0 using identical branding across ads on hoardings and ads on the field of play.

This is not the first time we have seen sections of the PHAA circumvented by industry. In November 2021, Section 15 of the PHAA introduced a modest measure outlawing alcohol advertising on the field of play, while still allowing them G During the live coverage of the Ireland v England rugby match in the 2025 Six Nations we saw alcohol marketing being broadcast into the homes of hundreds of thousands of people, doubtless tens of thousands of the viewers were children"

on hoardings around the pitch. However, 0.0/alcohol-free products are now being used to side-step these restrictions and have become prevalent in settings where alcohol is not allowed to be marketed e.g. on public transport and on advertisements close to youth-oriented facilities such as schools and public parks.

We are also now seeing alcohol brands being broadcast on TV channels during the day and on the field of play in sports events, this then creates a further issue in terms of broadcasting as alcohol branding emblazoned on playing surfaces is then being carried on television. The increase of 0.0/alcohol-free ads, especially during sports events, using the same logos and branding of full-strength products, is exposing children to alcohol brand marketing and the normalisation of alcohol-like products in new settings. Just as restrictions under the PHHA came into force, big alcohol brands began brand sharing – that is advertising zero alcohol beers using the same parent branding. It is of note that in the outdoor space where most of the PHAA restrictions are in place, zero alcohol ads made up 25% of the spend of alcohol brand advertising in 2022, up 31% from 2021, even though these products only make up around 1 percent of the market.[81] Zero alcohol ads are not being pushed because the alcohol industry wants people to drink less but because of the aforementioned restrictions on where they can advertise their products. Brand sharing means that children who see people drinking what appears to them to be alcohol – because of the same branding – will at a young age be conditioned to think differently about when and where it is appropriate to drink alcohol.

Strong brand recognition, whether driven by advertising the brand through zero-alcohol or alcohol products, can result in higher sales and profit margins. Indeed, the marketers of Heineken 0.0 have admitted as much in their submission to Effie Awards Ireland 2021. The Effie Awards, launched in 1968 by the New York **C** Zero alcohol ads are not being pushed because the alcohol industry wants people to drink less but because of the restrictions on where they can advertise their products"

American Marketing Association, are an awards program to honour the most effective advertising efforts.[82] It is the pre-eminent award in the industry, and the award recognises any and all forms of marketing that contribute to a brand's success.[83]

Elaborating on their Heineken 0.0 campaign in Ireland, which won a silver medal at the Irish Effie Awards, the marketers were keen to show that their efforts are increasing brand loyalty and also contributing to increased sales not just of 0.0 but also of the main product – Heineken. [84] The case study reference guide for the Heineken 0.0 campaign stated that advertising the non-alcoholic product "drove advocacy through excellent product experience and positive conversation around the brand".[85] This also had a beneficial effect on Heineken main brand. The submission further noted that the "success of the Heineken 0.0 campaign has compounded growth for the brand overall in a shrinking market".[86] Recent sports events have revealed these practices first hand as alcohol companies have sought to put their brand at the centre stage of important sporting events. Guinness displayed their logo and name with an additional 0.0 on the pitch during Six Nations matches earlier this year. Indeed, research from the University of Stirling found that alcohol brand references being shown at a rate of up to one every 8 seconds on the field of play during some high profile rugby matches after the PHAA restrictions came into place.[87]

Similarly, during the recent Nations League football match between Ireland v England, Carlsberg displayed their logo behind both goal end lines, again, with 0.0 tagged on. There was a particularly egregious example of a zero-alcohol product being advertised on the sports surface which is not even available on the market.[88] Forged Irish Stout 0.0 was prominently displayed on the boxing ring during a high-profile Katie Taylor fight in May 2023. Under PHAA rules, alcohol branding should not be displayed on the ring. The manufacturer claimed that the product was in development. This product is still not available (May 2025).

The purpose of marketing is to create a need or desire for a product, and the alcohol industry uses sport to drive increased sales and thereby increased alcohol consumption, and as previously stated, research and systematic reviews have reported a positive association between exposure to alcohol marketing and alcohol consumption.





Sport and alcohol consumption

For many in Ireland, sport is a regular part of their lives, as social activity or way to maintain physical health, or as a spectator experience following athletes, clubs, counties, provinces, or national teams. Over generations, sport has become a core part of people's local and national identity, with many people, rightly or wrongly, looking up to athletes as role models. What society, policy makers, and sporting bodies themselves often miss, however, are the hazardous behaviours that coexist with sport, especially alcohol use.

Alcohol and sport have long had a complex relationship, this is especially true in relation to the alcohol industry trying to associate its product with sport at almost all levels – from local sports clubs, to televised sports events, to live sport at large venues, amongst others. However, the reason this is a concern is because of the known connection between alcohol marketing and increased alcohol consumption,[89] and alcohol consumption and violence.[90]

Research in Britain which surveyed 1,750 football supporters found one third of participants agreed that alcohol is easily accessible at football grounds and 44.1% agreed most people attending football had consumed alcohol beforehand.[91] Similarly, research from the United States of America shows a strong association between sports and heavy drinking among both sports participants and spectators.[92] Further American research identified that, among college students, heavier drinkers were more likely to drink alcohol, and drink alcohol heavily, on the days of high profile games.[93]

Meanwhile Australian research into the attitudes and behaviours of drinkers found fans of the winning team would drink more heavily than those who supported the losing team – with cricket and football examples of sports events where there is significant alcohol consumption.[94] Indeed, this corresponds to experiences in Britain where males aged between 45 and 60 have been identified as drinking at higher levels, both when watching and when socialising after a sporting event.[95]

Alcohol consumption has also become a concern for fans and governing bodies. In 2018 the Welsh Rugby Union (WRU) announced that



alcohol-free zones would be trialled for Wales' November internationals after several reports of alcohol fuelled anti-social behaviour, including a disabled fan being abused by drunken spectators.[96] In 2022, the WRU took things further and decided to close all bars after half time in all three home matches in the Guinness Six Nations Championship at the Principality Stadium after a number of high-profile incidents, including two intrusions onto the pitch in consecutive matches,[97] and a six-year-old boy being left in floods of tears after he was vomited on by a drunk fan. [98]

Rugby in Ireland has experienced similar difficulties. In 2023 the Irish Rugby Football Union (IRFU) conducted a survey of 744 fans' attitudes

towards alcohol as part of an effort to counter accusations that the international matchday experience had become alcohol orientated.[99] The IRFU survey found that 68% of adult fans surveyed said they went to the 2023 autumn international games against South Africa and Australia intending to drink.[100] The situation

An IRFU survey of 744 fans found that 68% of adult fans surveyed said they went to the 2023 autumn international games against South Africa and Australia intending to drink"

further came to a head in 2024 when Irish Times rugby correspondent Gerry Thornley bemoaned the "flat" atmosphere at Ireland's Guinness Six Nations Championship matches, saying that fans were treating rugby games as a drinking occasion.[101]

However, by 2025 it appeared little had changed. On the afternoon of Tuesday 4th February, RTÉs 'Liveline' show received multiple calls from Irish rugby fans raising concerns about the scale of alcohol consumption at that weekend's Six Nations rugby match between Ireland and England at the Aviva Stadium, Dublin.[102] The callers raised concerns that the event was alcohol orientated, with rugby playing second fiddle to drinking. Those fans who contacted 'Liveline' outlined how the spectacle was ruined by fans constantly going to and from the bar, and in one case, by a drunk fan vomiting on a row of spectators.[103] Yet, such a situation is hardly surprising given comments from the organisers of the Six Nations that Guinness and the Six Nations were now synonymous.[104]

Recently, an exploratory study funded by football authorities in Scotland concluded that reintroducing the sale of alcohol in football grounds could result in increased alcohol consumption, reduced fan safety and increased public disorder.[105] Researchers from the University of Stirling spoke to a variety of stakeholders within football clubs, safety management, the police, public health and NHS, the Scottish Government and alcohol licensing as well as conducting site visits to Scottish and English stadia regarding the possibility of reintroducing the sale of alcohol at football stadia in Scotland.[106] However, the impact of such a move was found to be overwhelmingly negative, ranging from concerns about the added risk of disorder at matches, to increased alcohol consumption by those attending matches, a loss of income to local pubs, and the exposure of children and young people to alcohol consumption and increased alcohol marketing.[107] Alcohol Focus Scotland quite rightly branded the study an 'own-goal' for the footballing authorities.

The issue of alcohol permeates almost every sport, as seen recently at the Australian Open where the tournament director had to publicly reject suggestions crowd behaviour had taken a turn for the worse after tennis players, such as Novak Djokovic and Danielle Collins, linked rowdy fan behaviour to the level of alcohol consumed by patrons.[108] Meanwhile, alcohol-fuelled spectator violence at horse racing events has become a damaging problem, evidenced by recent high-profile incidents at Goodwood and Ascot racecourses.[109]

In their conference paper 'Alcohol and sport: can we have one without the other?', Jones, Phillipson, and Lynch, outlined that "It remains difficult to have any involvement in sport – as a participant or a fan – without being exposed to a strong message that alcohol and sport are inextricably linked".[110] Alcohol is also a common feature of the spectator experience, especially in situations where spectators access televised sporting events in pubs and other licensed premises, thereby ensuring that the presence of alcohol is a part of their spectator experience.[111] Indeed, sporting events have been identified, alongside public holidays and music festivals, as the most common events to result in increased alcohol-related presentations to emergency departments.[112]

Sport, alcohol and DSGBV

Studies have highlighted the link between alcohol consumption, violence, and aggression, and it is for this reason that many sporting venues have decided to restrict alcohol consumption on site and turn away intoxicated fans.[113] While much focus has been on "player violence" and "crowd violence" it is recognised that a variety of other incidents of sports-related violence exist, including domestic violence.[114] When such violence happens in the home victims don't have the ability to turn away the perpetrator.

In their paper, 'Sportrelated domestic violence: Exploring the complex relationship between sporting events and domestic violence', Williams and Neville state "It is not that [sporting events] cause the violence, but rather that the excitement, disappointment and flow of adrenalin resulting from

G Sporting events do not cause domestic violence, as perpetrators are responsible for their actions, but the levels of alcohol consumption linked to the highly charged emotional nature of such events seems to increase the prevalence of such incidents"

watching a ... team play may exacerbate existing tensions within a relationship and result in lost tempers and violence or abuse. Such behaviour may be made worse or more likely when alcohol has been consumed".[115]

In Britain, the association between alcohol, sport events, and domestic violence prompted the Home Office to highlight the link during the 2006 World Cup.[116] Further research of the Home Office analysis found that domestic violence increased in the case of a definite win or lose result for the England men's team.[117] During the London 2012 Olympics the London Borough of Newham produced beer mats designed to be used in an information campaign about domestic violence,[118] an approach also used by Haringey Council, London during Euro 2024.[119] Moreover, police forces around the world have identified surges in domestic abuse reports following big events in national and international sports competitions. [120]

Research by Brimicombe and Café looked at the association between domestic violence and England fixtures during the 2010 World Cup in South Africa. The research used uniquely detailed data to estimate the hourly dynamics of intimate partner domestic abuse during and after a football game and found that when the England national team either won or lost there was a significant increase in domestic violence reports, with the authors highlighting the importance of match outcome on levels of domestic violence reports.[121]

Such research is backed up by the most comprehensive study to date on the link between sport, alcohol, and DSGBV. Ivandić et al. analysed confidential and uniquely detailed individual call data from Greater Manchester Police with the timing of football matches over a period of eight years to estimate the effect on domestic abuse. The records used contained detailed information on the timing, location, description, type of relationship, information on the victim and information on the perpetrator, among others.

The research team then complemented this with data on all football matches of Manchester United and Manchester City in competitions held between April 2012 and June 2019 – amounting to almost 800 games – with detailed data on the timing, location, result, and ex-ante winning probabilities of the game.[122] Ivandić et al. established that a football game changed the dynamics of domestic abuse – such as a 5% decrease in abuse incidents during the 2-hour duration of a game – suggesting a substitution effect of football and domestic abuse.[123] However, following the initial decrease, domestic abuse incidents between current partners started increasing after the game and peak about 10–12 hours later.[124]

The research further showed that increases in domestic abuse were driven by increases in alcohol-related domestic abuse incidents following early games, while abuse caused by non-alcoholised perpetrators remained stable and games scheduled later in the day did not lead to an increase in abuse. Essentially, when the perpetrator is under the influence of alcohol and games are earlier in the day, Ivandić et al. found a positive and statistically significant cumulative effect of a football game on domestic abuse throughout the day.[125] The authors concluded that the observed increase in domestic abuse was driven entirely by alcoholised perpetrators and that it was therefore important to implement policies aimed at reducing alcohol consumption during and where possible after sporting events.



Meanwhile in their research into 'Family Violence and Football: The Effect of Unexpected Emotional Cues on Violent Behavior', Card and Dahl found a rise in violence after an upset loss, concentrated in a narrow time window near the end of the game, and that such episodes of violence are larger for more important games.[126]

Nevertheless, it must be stated that major sporting events do not cause domestic violence, as perpetrators are responsible for their actions, but the levels of alcohol consumption linked to the highly charged emotional nature of such events seems to increase the prevalence of such incidents. [127] Therefore, it is clear that there is a need to reduce alcohol consumption among spectators at live events, [128] but more importantly, there is a need to reduce whole of population alcohol consumption using the World Health Organisation's 'best buys' – controls on pricing, marketing and availability.



Data from Greater Manchester Police analysing the timing of Man Utd and Man City football matches and domestic abuse incidences over a period of eight years - almost 800 matches - showed a 5% decrease in abuse incidents during the 2-hour duration of a game followed by an increase peaking 10-12 hours after the match

Conclusion and recommendations

There is a significant body of research suggesting a complex relationship between sports, alcohol consumption, and domestic violence. Studies have found a strong, but complex link between alcohol and domestic abuse, suggesting that alcohol can either be seen as a contributing cause, an aggravating factor, or a trigger of violent behaviour in domestic (and other) settings.[129] Moreover, research also argues that social contexts where excessive drinking is encouraged, such as through the promotion of alcohol during sporting events, are often permissive of violent

behaviour and sexism, which can increase the likelihood of alcohol-related domestic abuse.[130]

Given that alcohol is deeply intertwined with sport,[131] and alcohol is a risk factor for DSGBV, it is important that there is a whole-of-government approach to alcohol in Ireland. As Graham et. al. stated in their paper, 'Alcohol May Not Cause Partner Violence But It Seems to Make It Worse: A Cross National Comparison **66** Research argues that social contexts where excessive drinking is encouraged, such as through the promotion of alcohol during sporting events, are often permissive of violent behaviour and sexism, which can increase the likelihood of alcohol-related domestic abuse"

of the Relationship Between Alcohol and Severity of Partner Violence':

"Ignoring the presence of alcohol will neither eliminate its role in intimate partner violence nor prevent its being used as an excuse for violence. On the contrary, the more we know about how alcohol affects violence, including intimate partner violence, the better able we will be to develop effective prevention strategies and treatment responses". [132]

Given the likelihood of increased domestic, sexual and gender-based violence around sporting occasions there is a clear need for increased provision of policing and services for victims including children. Central though to addressing these difficult and complex issues is the need for prevention. Reducing alcohol consumption across the whole of population has a significant role to play. This can be achieved by using the World Health Organisation's 'best buys' - controls on pricing, marketing and availability.

While sports, alcohol, and domestic violence are interrelated in certain contexts, efforts to address and mitigate these issues must focus on changing cultural norms and creating systems of support for both those affected by and those at risk of engaging in violence. Therefore, there is scope for athletes, clubs, counties, provinces, and national governing to play a role in tackling alcohol harm and DSGBV, while at national level it is imperative that government and state agencies ensure that the Public Health (Alcohol) Act is implemented in full, and that its measures are not ignored or circumvented, as we have seen with Section 15 and Section 19 of the legislation.

Furthermore, the government must implement the 2012 recommendation of the Steering Group Report on a National Substance Misuse Strategy and implement a ban on sports sponsorship by alcohol companies.[133]

AAI believes there is a need to tackle the manufactured relationship linking alcohol and sport by tackling the mechanisms deployed by the alcohol industry to create and sustain this link.

It is time to ban alcohol sports sponsorship.

World Health Organisation's 'Best Buys' are policy solutions that are highly cost-effective, evidence-based, and yield a significant return on investment for governments to adopt



taxes on alcoholic beverages

PRICE





Enact and enforce restrictions on the physical availability of alcohol





References

[1] Cuan: The Domestic, Sexual and Gender-Based Violence (DSGBV) Agency. (2024). Corporate Plan 2025 – 2027. Dublin: Cuan: DSGBV Agency. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.ie/pdf/?file=https://assets.gov.ie/311542/e3b4a330-2e21-4bd9-a7a5-3ee06a43210e.pdf#page=null</u>

[2] Cuan: The Domestic, Sexual and Gender-Based Violence (DSGBV) Agency. (2024). Corporate Plan 2025 – 2027. Dublin: Cuan: DSGBV Agency. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.ie/pdf/?file=https://assets.gov.ie/311542/e3b4a330-2e21-4bd9-a7a5-3ee06a43210e.pdf#page=null</u>

[3] Women's Aid. (2024). Facts: Domestic abuse is more common than you think. Available at: <u>https://www.womensaid.ie/get-informed/facts/</u>

[4] Foley, Dr. L. (2022). Gender-Based Violence in Ireland. Available at: <u>https://publicpolicy.ie/covid/gender-based-violence-in-ireland/</u>

[5] Foley, Dr. L. (2022). Gender-Based Violence in Ireland. Available at: <u>https://publicpolicy.ie/covid/gender-based-violence-in-ireland/</u>

[6] Foley, Dr. L. (2022). Gender-Based Violence in Ireland. Available at: <u>https://publicpolicy.ie/covid/gender-based-violence-in-ireland/</u>

[7] European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. (2014). Violence against women: an EU-wide survey. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at: <u>https://www.nwci.ie/images/uploads/FRA-2014-Violence Against Women survey-main-results.pdf</u>

[8] https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10087409/

[9] Health Service Executive. (2022). Domestic violence and abuse. Available at: <u>https://www2.hse.ie/mental-health/life-situations-events/domestic-violence-and-abuse/</u>

[10] Men's Aid. (2024). Annual Report 2023. Available at: <u>https://www.mensaid.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/Mens-Aid-Annual-Report-2023-Press-Release-Nov-2024.pdf</u>

[11] Women's Aid. (2024). Annual Impact Report 2023. Dublin: Women's Aid. Available at: https://www.womensaid.ie/app/uploads/2024/06/Womens-Aid-Annual-Report-2023.pdf

[12] Central Statistics Office. (2023). Sexual Violence Survey 2022 – Main Results. Available at: <u>https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-svsmr/sexualviolencesurvey2022mainresults/overallprevalence/</u>

[13] Foley, Dr. L. (2022). Gender-Based Violence in Ireland. Available at: <u>https://publicpolicy.ie/covid/gender-based-violence-in-ireland/</u>

[14] Central Statistics Office. (2023). Sexual Violence Survey 2022 – Main Results. Available at: <u>https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-svsmr/sexualviolencesurvey2022mainresults/overallprevalence/</u>

[15] McDermott, R. (2025). Three years after Ashling Murphy's tragic death, Ireland's fight against femicide and the silencing of women continues. Image Magazine: Dublin. Available at: <u>https://www.image.ie/living/three-years-after-ashling-murphys-tragic-death-irelands-fight-against-femicide-and-the-silencing-of-women-continues-947537</u>

[16] Women's Aid. (2024). Annual Impact Report 2023. Dublin: Women's Aid. Available at: https://www.womensaid.ie/app/uploads/2024/06/Womens-Aid-Annual-Report-2023.pdf

[17] McGoldrick, K, Collis, S.A., and Mulligan, L. (2024). Femicide in Ireland 2012–2023. Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine Volume 107, October 2024. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1752928X24001161</u>

[18] Byrne, S. (2010) Costs to Society of Problem Alcohol Use in Ireland. Dublin: Health Service Executive. Available at: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/15781/1/HSE_Costs_to_Society_of_Problem_Alcohol_Use_in_Ireland.pdf

[19] Room, R., Rossow, I., (2009). The share of violence attributable to drinking. Journal of Substance Use, 6(4), 218–228. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/146598901753325048</u>

[20] Prevention Collaborative. (2024). Addressing harmful alcohol use to reduce intimate partner violence and violence against children in the home. Available at: https://prevention-collaborative.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Alcohol-Review-FINAL.pdf

[21] Prevention Collaborative. (2024). Addressing harmful alcohol use to reduce intimate partner violence and violence against children in the home. Available at: <u>https://prevention-collaborative.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Alcohol-Review-FINAL.pdf</u>



[22] Wilson, Dr. I. (2024). Stop gaslighting women facing alcohol-fuelled domestic violence. Sydney: Women's Agenda. Available at: https://womensagenda.com.au/latest/stop-gaslighting-women-facing-alcohol-fuelled-domestic-violence/

[23] World Health Organization. (2010). Preventing intimate partner and sexual violence against women: taking action and generating evidence. Geneva, World Health Organization. Available at: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/44350/9789241564007_eng.pdf;jsessionid=6A9D652DC80AD7BAD044554A7EF39830?</u> sequence=1

[24] Graham, K., Bernards, S., Wilsnack, S.C., and, Gmel, G. (2010). Alcohol May Not Cause Partner Violence But It Seems to Make It Worse: A Cross National Comparison of the Relationship Between Alcohol and Severity of Partner Violence. J Interpers Violence. 2010 Jun 3;26(8):1503–1523. Available at: <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC3142677/</u>

[25] Prevention Collaborative. (2024). Addressing harmful alcohol use to reduce intimate partner violence and violence against children in the home. Available at: <u>https://prevention-collaborative.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Alcohol-Review-FINAL.pdf</u>

[26] Campbell, E., Fernando, Dr. T, Gassner Dr. L., Hill, J., Seidler Dr. Z., and Summers Dr. A. (2024). Unlocking the Prevention Potential Accelerating action to end domestic, family and sexual violence. Canberra: Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet (Australia). Available at: <u>https://www.pmc.gov.au/sites/default/files/resource/download/unlocking-the-prevention-potential-4.pdf</u>

[27] Giorgi. C. (2024). Alcohol is a trigger for family violence. So why aren't governments acting on it? Sydney: Women's Agenda. Available at: <u>https://womensagenda.com.au/latest/alcohol-is-a-trigger-for-family-violence-so-why-arent-governments-acting-on-it/</u>

[28] Alcohol Action Ireland. (2024). Policy Briefing – Sale of Alcohol Bill: Who will carry the burden, who will clean up the mess? Available at: <u>https://alcoholireland.ie/our-work/campaigns/sale-of-alcohol-bill/</u>

[29] Doyle, A., Mongan, D., Galvin, B. (2024). Alcohol: availability, affordability, related harm, and policy in Ireland. HRB Overview Series 13. Dublin: Health Research Board. Available at: <u>https://www.hrb.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/HRB Alcohol Overview_Series_13.pdf</u>

[30] Whetton, S., Tait, R.J., Gilmore, W., Dey, T., Agramunt, S., Abdul Halim, S., McEntee, A., Mukhtar, A., Roche, A., Allsop, S., and, Chikritzhs, T. (2021). Examining the social and economic costs of alcohol use in Australia 2017/18. Perth, WA: National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University. Available at: <u>https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/38088/</u>

[31] Doyle, A., Mongan, D., Galvin, B. (2024). Alcohol: availability, affordability, related harm, and policy in Ireland. HRB Overview Series 13. Dublin: Health Research Board. Available at: <u>https://www.hrb.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/HRB Alcohol Overview Series 13.pdf</u>

[32] Analysis of changes in alcohol prices, taxation and affordability in the Republic of Ireland. C. Angus, University of Sheffield.https://alcoholireland.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/Alcohol-Affordability-Ireland.pdf

[33] Doyle, A., Mongan, D., Galvin, B. (2024). Alcohol: availability, affordability, related harm, and policy in Ireland. HRB Overview Series 13. Dublin: Health Research Board. Available at: <u>https://www.hrb.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/HRB Alcohol Overview Series 13.pdf</u>

[34] Cosc, The National Office for the prevention of domestic, sexual and gender-based violence. (2015). Alcohol Involvement in Incidences of Domestic Violence. Dublin: Department of Justice. Available at: http://www.drugs.ie/downloadDocs/2015/CoscFactsheet.pdf

[35] Byrne, S. (2010) Costs to Society of Problem Alcohol Use in Ireland. Dublin: Health Service Executive. Available at: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/15781/1/HSE_Costs_to_Society_of_Problem_Alcohol_Use_in_Ireland.pdf

[36] McGoldrick, K, Collis, S.A., and Mulligan, L. (2024). Femicide in Ireland 2012–2023. Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine Volume 107, October 2024. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1752928X24001161</u>

[37] Byrne, S. (2010) Costs to Society of Problem Alcohol Use in Ireland. Dublin: Health Service Executive. Available at: <u>https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/15781/1/HSE_Costs to Society of Problem Alcohol Use in Ireland.pdf</u>

[38] Lorenz, K.M.A., and, Ullman, S.E. (2016). Alcohol and sexual assault victimization: Research findings and future directions. Aggression and Violent Behavior, Volume 31, 2016, Pages 82-94. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1359178916301008</u>

[39] Institute of Alcohol Studies. (2017). Crime and the social impacts of alcohol. London: Institute of Alcohol Studies. Available at: https://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/Factsheets/FS%20crime%20022017.pdf

[40] Rape Crisis Network Ireland. (2012). Calling time on sexual violence and alcohol: the facts. Factsheet 1: The extent of the problem in Ireland. Galway: Rape Crisis Network Ireland. Available at: <u>https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/17407/</u>

[41] Campbell, E., Fernando, Dr. T, Gassner Dr. L., Hill, J., Seidler Dr. Z., and Summers Dr. A. (2024). Unlocking the Prevention Potential Accelerating action to end domestic, family and sexual violence. Canberra: Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet (Australia). Available at: <u>https://www.pmc.gov.au/sites/default/files/resource/download/unlocking-the-prevention-potential-4.pdf</u>



[42] The Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education (FARE). (2024). FARE welcomes National Cabinet decision to act on alcohol to help prevent gendered violence. Canberra: FARE. <u>https://fare.org.au/fare-welcomes-national-cabinet-decision-to-act-on-alcohol-to-help-prevent-gendered-violence/</u>

[43] The Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education (FARE). (2024). Community and health leaders welcome draft alcohol laws in South Australia to prevent gendered violence. Canberra: FARE. Available at: <u>https://fare.org.au/community-and-health-leaders-welcome-draft-alcohol-laws-in-south-australia-to-prevent-gendered-violence/</u>

[44] Prevention Collaborative. (2024). Addressing harmful alcohol use to reduce intimate partner violence and violence against children in the home. Available at: <u>https://prevention-collaborative.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Alcohol-Review-FINAL.pdf</u>

[45] European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. (2014). Violence against women: an EU-wide survey. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at: <u>https://www.nwci.ie/images/uploads/FRA-2014-</u> <u>Violence Against Women survey-main-results.pdf</u>

[46] Doyle, A., Mongan, D., Galvin, B. (2024). Alcohol: availability, affordability, related harm, and policy in Ireland. Dublin: Health Research Board. Available at: <u>https://www.hrb.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/HRB_Alcohol_Overview_Series_13-2.pdf</u>

[47] Prevention Collaborative. (2024). Addressing harmful alcohol use to reduce intimate partner violence and violence against children in the home. Available at: <u>https://prevention-collaborative.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Alcohol-Review-FINAL.pdf</u>

[48] Prevention Collaborative. (2024). Addressing harmful alcohol use to reduce intimate partner violence and violence against children in the home. Available at: https://prevention-collaborative.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Alcohol-Review-FINAL.pdf

[49] Holt, S., Buckley, H., Whelan, S. (2008). The impact of exposure to domestic violence on children and young people: a review of the literature. Child Abuse Negl. 2008 Aug;32(8):797-810. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18752848/</u>

[50] World Health Organization. (2010). Preventing intimate partner and sexual violence against women: taking action and generating evidence. Geneva, World Health Organization. Available at: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/44350/9789241564007_eng.pdf;jsessionid=6A9D652DC80AD7BAD044554A7EF398302</u> sequence=1

[51] World Health Organization. (2010). Preventing intimate partner and sexual violence against women: taking action and generating evidence. Geneva, World Health Organization. Available at: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/44350/9789241564007_eng.pdf;jsessionid=6A9D652DC80AD7BAD044554A7EF39830?</u> <u>sequence=1</u>

[52] Alcohol Action Ireland. (2023). Problem alcohol use in the home: the invisible victims of alcohol harm. Dublin: AAI. Available at: https://alcoholireland.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/Silent-Voices-Policy-Document-2024-final.pdf

[53] Alcohol Action Ireland. (2023). Problem alcohol use in the home: the invisible victims of alcohol harm. Dublin: AAI. Available at: https://alcoholireland.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/Silent-Voices-Policy-Document-2024-final.pdf

[54] European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. (2014). Violence against women: an EU-wide survey. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at: <u>https://www.nwci.ie/images/uploads/FRA-2014-</u> <u>Violence_Against_Women_survey-main-results.pdf</u>

[55] Alcohol Action Ireland. (2023). Problem alcohol use in the home: the invisible victims of alcohol harm. Dublin: AAI. Available at: https://alcoholireland.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/Silent-Voices-Policy-Document-2024-final.pdf

[56] Alcohol Action Ireland. (2023). Problem alcohol use in the home: the invisible victims of alcohol harm. Dublin: AAI. Available at: https://alcoholireland.ie/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/Silent-Voices-Policy-Document-2024-final.pdf

[57] Brown K. (2016). Association Between Alcohol Sports Sponsorship and Consumption: A Systematic Review. Alcohol and alcoholism. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 51(6), 747–755. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26911984/</u>

[58] Brown K. (2016). Association Between Alcohol Sports Sponsorship and Consumption: A Systematic Review. Alcohol and alcoholism. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 51(6), 747–755. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26911984/</u>

[59] Alcohol Action Ireland. (2014). It's not a game – Submission to the Working Group on Regulating Sponsorship by Alcohol Companies of Major Sporting Events. Dublin: AAI. Available at: <u>https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/22134/1/AAI%20Print%20Submission%20Version.pdf</u>

[60] Diageo. (2024). Teaming up with the world's biggest sporting events. Available at: <u>https://www.diageo.com/en/news-and-media/stories/2024/teaming-up-with-the-worlds-biggest-sporting-events</u>

[61] Football Association of Ireland. (2021). Carlsberg seal contract extension with the FAI as Official Beer Sponsor. Available at: https://www.fai.ie/latest/carlsberg-seal-contract-extension-with-the-fai-as-official-beer-sponsor/

[62] Sønderlund, A.L., O'Brien, K., Kremer, P., Rowland, B., De Groot, F., Staiger, P., Zinkiewicz, L., and G. Miller, P.G. (2014). The association between sports participation, alcohol use and aggression and violence: A systematic review. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, Volume 17, Issue 1, 2014, Pages 2-7. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1440244013000595



[63] Zenic, N., Kvesic, I., Corluka, M., Trivic, T., Drid, P., Saavedra, J. M., Foretic, N., Modric, T., & Gilic, B. (2023). Analyzing the Relationship between Participation in Sports and Harmful Alcohol Drinking in Early Adolescence: Two-Year Prospective Analysis. Children: Basel, Switzerland. Available at: <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10297176/</u>

[64] Murray, R. M., Sabiston, C. M., Doré, I., Bélanger, M., & O'Loughlin, J. L. (2021). Longitudinal associations between team sport participation and substance use in adolescents and young adults. Addictive behaviors, 116, 106798. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33472137/</u>

[65] Alcohol Action Ireland. (2014). It's not a game – Submission to the Working Group on Regulating Sponsorship by Alcohol Companies of Major Sporting Events. Dublin: AAI. Available at: https://www.druqsandalcohol.ie/22134/1/AAI%20Print%20Submission%20Version.pdf

[66] Purves, RI, Critchlow, N, Richard, G, Hunt, K, Morrow, S & Bancroft, A. (2021). 'Sport fan attitudes on alcohol: Insights from a survey of football supporters in Scotland and England', Journal of Sport and Social Issues. Available at: <u>https://www.pure.ed.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/247559822/PurvesEtal2021JSSISportFanAttitudes.pdf</u>

[67] Purves, RI, Critchlow, N, Richard, G, Hunt, K, Morrow, S & Bancroft, A. (2021). 'Sport fan attitudes on alcohol: Insights from a survey of football supporters in Scotland and England', Journal of Sport and Social Issues. Available at: <u>https://www.pure.ed.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/247559822/PurvesEtal2021JSSISportFanAttitudes.pdf</u>

[68] ESPN. (2023). Budweiser renews World Cup sponsor deal with FIFA despite 2022 fiasco. Available at: <u>https://www.espn.co.uk/football/story/_/id/37820615/budweiser-renews-world-cup-sponsor-deal-fifa</u>

[69] ESPN. (2023). Budweiser renews World Cup sponsor deal with FIFA despite 2022 fiasco. Available at: <u>https://www.espn.co.uk/football/story/ /id/37820615/budweiser-renews-world-cup-sponsor-deal-fifa</u>

[70] Premier League. (2024). Guinness Announces First-Ever Global Partnership in Football as the Official Beer of the Premier League. Available at: <u>https://www.premierleague.com/partners/guinness</u>

[71] League of Ireland. (2025). A toas to refreshingly Irish football as Rockshore announces four-year partnership with the League of Ireland. Available at: <u>https://www.leagueofireland.ie/news/toast-refreshingly-irish-football-rockshore-announces-four-year-partnership-league-ireland/</u>

[72] League of Ireland. (2025). A toas to refreshingly Irish football as Rockshore announces four-year partnership with the League of Ireland. Available at: <u>https://www.leagueofireland.ie/news/toast-refreshingly-irish-football-rockshore-announces-four-year-partnership-league-ireland/</u>

[73] Bohemian Football Club. (2025). Bohemian FC Unveil Away Jersey in Conjunction with Guinness. Bohemian FC: Dublin. Available at: https://bohemianfc.com/?page_id=20945

[74] Bohemian Football Club @bfcdublin. (2025). Now on Sale: Our 2025 away shirt celebrating two great Dublin institutions. Available at: https://x.com/bfcdublin/status/1889640539886354521?mx=2

[75] Guinness. (2024). Guinness Six Nations. Dublin: Guinness. Available at: <u>https://www.guinness.com/en-ie/sport/guinness-six-nations</u>

[76] Diageo. (2024). Annual Report 2024. London: Diageo. Available at: <u>https://www.diageo.com/~/media/Files/D/Diageo-V2/Diageo-Corp/investors/results-reports-and-events/annual-reports/diageo-annual-report-2024.pdf</u>

[77] Carlsberg Group. (2023). Carlsberg Group Annual Report 2023. Copenhagen: Carlsberg Group. Available at: https://www.carlsberggroup.com/media/3kjbpwaa/carlsberg-group-2023-annual-report.pdf

[78] Ireland, R., Bunn, C., Reith, G., Philpott, M., Capewell, S., Boyland, E., & Chambers, S. (2019). Commercial determinants of health: advertising of alcohol and unhealthy foods during sporting events. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 97(4), 290–295. Available at: <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC6438257/</u>

[79] Broadcasting Authority of Ireland. (2020). Statutory Report on the Effect of the BAI Children's Commercial Communications Code. BAI: Dublin. <u>Available at: https://www.bai.ie/en/media/sites/2/2021/02/2020</u> <u>StatutoryReport_CCCC_vFinal_JC.pdf</u>

[80] Gavin, A., Költő, A., Lunney, L., Maloney, R., Walker, L., Nic Gabhainn, S., Colette Kelly, C. (2022). The Irish Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) Study 2022. Department of Health: Dublin. Available at: https://hbsc.org/new-hbsc-ireland-report-alarming-trends-in-youth-mental-health-alongside-shifts-in-substance-use-and-lifestyle-habits/

[81] Core. (2023). Outlook 23 - Media Market Forecasts for Ireland. Available at: <u>https://www.onecore.ie/intel/outlook-23-media-market-forecasts</u>

[82] Effie. (2024). About Effie. Available at: https://www.effie.org/worldwide/about

[83] Effie. (2024). About Effie. Available at: <u>https://www.effie.org/worldwide/about</u>



[84] Effie Ireland. (2021). Effie Awards Ireland: Case Study Reference Guide. Available at: https://s3.amazonaws.com/effie_assets/ckeditor_assets/376/case_study_booklet_-_effie_awards_2021_-_final_version.pdf? 1669310772

[85] Effie Ireland. (2021). Effie Awards Ireland: Case Study Reference Guide. Available at: <u>https://s3.amazonaws.com/effie assets/ckeditor assets/376/case study booklet - effie awards 2021 - final version.pdf?</u> <u>1669310772</u>

[86] Effie Ireland. (2021). Effie Awards Ireland: Case Study Reference Guide. Available at: <u>https://s3.amazonaws.com/effie_assets/ckeditor_assets/376/case_study_booklet_-effie_awards_2021_-final_version.pdf?</u> <u>1669310772</u>

[87] Critchlow, N., Purves, R. (2023). Alcohol branding during rugby union matches in Ireland after commencement of Sect. 15 from the Public Health (Alcohol) Act: a frequency analysis of highlights from the European Rugby Champions Cup and Six Nations Championship. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/369383940 Alcohol branding during rugby union matches in Ireland after commencem ent_of Sect 15 from the Public Health Alcohol Act a frequency analysis of highlights from the European Rugby Champions Cup _and Six

[88] Thomas, C. (2023). Conor McGregor's promotion of zero-alcohol stout criticised by harm reduction group. Dublin: Business Post. Available at: <u>https://www.businesspost.ie/news/conor-mcgregors-promotion-of-zero-alcohol-stout-criticised-by-harm-reduction-group/</u>

[89] Giesbrecht, N., Reisdorfer, E., and Shield, K. (2024). The impacts of alcohol marketing and advertising, and the alcohol industry's views on marketing regulations: Systematic reviews of systematic reviews. Drug and Alcohol Review, Volume43, Issue6, September 2024, Pages 1402-1425. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/dar.13881</u>

[90] Room, R., Rossow, I., (2009). The share of violence attributable to drinking. Journal of Substance Use, 6(4), 218–228. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/146598901753325048

[91] https://www.pure.ed.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/247559822/PurvesEtal2021JSSISportFanAttitudes.pdf

[92] Palmer, C. (2011). Key Themes and Research Agendas in the Sport-Alcohol Nexus. Journal of Sport and Social Issues 35(2):168-185. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/258158846 Key Themes and Research Agendas in the Sport-Alcohol Nexus

[93] Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. (2017). Brief insights: Sports bar drinking culture. Victoria, Australia: Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. Available at: <u>https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/VicHealth_Drinking_culture_Sports_Bars.pdf</u>

[94] Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. (2017). Brief insights: Sports bar drinking culture. Victoria, Australia: Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. Available at: <u>https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/VicHealth_Drinking_culture_Sports_Bars.pdf</u>

[95] Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. (2017). Brief insights: Sports bar drinking culture. Victoria, Australia: Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. Available at: <u>https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/VicHealth Drinking culture Sports Bars.pdf</u>

[96] BBC. (2018). Principality Stadium: WRU announces alcohol-free zone details. London: BBC. Available at: https://www.bbc.com/sport/rugby-union/46032912

[97] Rimmer, S. (2022). Matchday Experience – new measures at Principality Stadium. Cardiff: Welsh Rugby Union. Available at: https://www.wru.wales/2022/02/matchday-experience-new-measures-at-principality-stadium/

[98] BBC. (2021). Wales v Australia: Boy vomited on by drunk fan in stadium. London: BBC. Available at: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-wales-59372210</u>

[99] Martin, T. (2023). What Irish rugby fans really want is a drink. Cork: Irish Examiner. Available at: https://www.irishexaminer.com/sport-columnists/arid-41051504.html

[100] Martin, T. (2023). What Irish rugby fans really want is a drink. Cork: Irish Examiner. Available at: <u>https://www.irishexaminer.com/sport-columnists/arid-41051504.html</u>

[101] Thornley, G. (2024). Flat atmosphere at the Aviva Stadium not helped by Irish rugby fans treating matches as a social occasion. Dublin: Irish Times. Available at: <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/sport/rugby/2024/02/27/the-best-irish-team-ever-and-another-flat-atmosphere-at-the-aviva/</u>

[102] RTÉ Radio 1. (2025). Sip, Stand, Shuffle - Rugby, Interrupted. Available at: https://www.rte.ie/radio/radio1/clips/22485725/

[103] RTÉ Radio 1. (2025). Sip, Stand, Shuffle - Rugby, Interrupted. Available at: https://www.rte.ie/radio/radio1/clips/22485725/

[104] Six Nations Rugby. (2025). The Guinness Men's Six Nations, "Rugby's Most Loved Annual Occasion". Available at: <u>https://media.sixnationsrugby.com/press-releases/the-guinness-mens-six-nations-rugbys-most-loved-annual-occasion/</u>



33

[105] University of Stirling. (2025). Alcohol availability at Scottish Football Insights from the 'Football and Alcohol Scoping Study (FASST)' project. Institute for Social Marketing and Health, University of Stirling. Available at: https://www.stir.ac.uk/media/stirling/services/research/documents/policy-briefings/fasst-briefing-paper.pdf

[106] Alcohol Focus Scotland. (2025). Scottish Football in alcohol ban 'own goal': study concludes ending alcohol ban could increase risk of disorder and add to alcohol harms. Available at: <u>https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/news/news/scottish-football-in-alcohol-ban-own-goal-study-concludes-ending-alcohol-ban-could-increas/</u>

[107] Alcohol Focus Scotland. (2025). Scottish Football in alcohol ban 'own goal': study concludes ending alcohol ban could increase risk of disorder and add to alcohol harms. Available at: <u>https://www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk/news/news/scottish-football-in-alcohol-ban-own-goal-study-concludes-ending-alcohol-ban-could-increas/</u>

[108] Snape, J. (2025). 'Always going to have one or two': Australian Open boss says rowdy crowds not a problem. London: The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/sport/2025/jan/22/australian-open-2025-crowd-fan-behaviour-novak-djokovic-craig-tiley</u>

[109] Kadiri, H. (2018). Alcohol at sporting events? What's the harm?. London: Institute of Alcohol Studies. Available at: https://www.ias.org.uk/2018/06/14/alcohol-at-sporting-events-whats-the-harm/

[110] Jones, S., Phillipson, L., and Lynch, M. (2006). Alcohol and sport: can we have one without the other?. University of Wollongong. Conference contribution. Available at: <u>https://ro.uow.edu.au/articles/conference contribution/Alcohol and sport can we have one without the other /27796236?file=50565630</u>

[111] Williams, D.J., and Neville, F.G. (2014). Sport-related domestic violence: Exploring the complex relationship between sporting events and domestic violence. Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh. Available at: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/10023/6808/Neville 2015 Nova Sport AM.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

[112] Rae Hagan, S., Crilly, J., Ranse, J. (2023) Alcohol-Related Presentations to Emergency Departments on Days with Holidays, Social, and Sporting Events: An Integrative Literature Review. Available at: <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC10694469/</u>

[113] Taylor, J., Strang, L., and Disley, E. (2018). Alcohol and international football tournaments. RAND Corporation: Santa Monica, Calif., and Cambridge, UK. Available at: <u>https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR2700/RR2738/RAND_RR2738,Pdf</u>

[114] https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/10023/6808/Neville 2015 Nova Sport AM.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

[115] Williams, D.J., and Neville, F.G. (2014). Sport-related domestic violence: Exploring the complex relationship between sporting events and domestic violence. Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh. Available at: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/10023/6808/Neville_2015_Nova_Sport_AM.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

[116] Brimcimbe, A. and Cafe, R. (2012). Beware, win or lose: Domestic violence and the World Cup. Significance, Volume9, Issue 5, October 2012, Pages 32-35. Available at: <u>https://rss.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1740-9713.2012.00606.x</u>

[117] Brimcimbe, A. and Cafe, R. (2012). Beware, win or lose: Domestic violence and the World Cup. Significance, Volume9, Issue 5, October 2012, Pages 32-35. Available at: <u>https://rss.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1740-9713.2012.00606.x</u>

[118] Brimcimbe, A. and Cafe, R. (2012). Beware, win or lose: Domestic violence and the World Cup. Significance, Volume9, Issue 5, October 2012, Pages 32-35. Available at: <u>https://rss.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1740-9713.2012.00606.x</u>

[119] Haringey Borough. (2024). Euro 2024: Beer mat campaign tackles domestic abuse. Available at: <u>https://haringey.gov.uk/news/20240610/euro-2024-beer-mat-campaign-tackles-domestic-abuse</u>

[120] Ivandić, R., Kirchmaier, T., Saeidi, Y., and Torres Blas, N. (2024). Football, alcohol, and domestic abuse. Journal of Public Economics, Volume 230. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047272300213X

[121] Ivandić, R., Kirchmaier, T., Saeidi, Y., and Torres Blas, N. (2024). Football, alcohol, and domestic abuse. Journal of Public Economics, Volume 230. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S00472722300213X</u>

[122] Ivandić, R., Kirchmaier, T., Saeidi, Y., and Torres Blas, N. (2024). Football, alcohol, and domestic abuse. Journal of Public Economics, Volume 230. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047272300213X

[123] Ivandić, R., Kirchmaier, T., Saeidi, Y., and Torres Blas, N. (2024). Football, alcohol, and domestic abuse. Journal of Public Economics, Volume 230. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047272300213X

[124] Ivandić, R., Kirchmaier, T., Saeidi, Y., and Torres Blas, N. (2024). Football, alcohol, and domestic abuse. Journal of Public Economics, Volume 230. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047272300213X

[125] Ivandić, R., Kirchmaier, T., Saeidi, Y., and Torres Blas, N. (2024). Football, alcohol, and domestic abuse. Journal of Public Economics, Volume 230. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S00472727300213X</u>

[126] Card, D. and Dahl, G.B. (2011). Family Violence and Football: The Effect of Unexpected Emotional Cues on Violent Behavior. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Volume 126, Issue 1, February 2011, Pages 103–143. Available at: <u>https://academic.oup.com/gje/article-abstract/126/1/103/1903433?redirectedFrom=fulltext</u>



34

[127] Brimcimbe, A. and Cafe, R. (2012). Beware, win or lose: Domestic violence and the World Cup. Significance, Volume9, Issue 5, October 2012, Pages 32-35. Available at: <u>https://rss.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1740-9713.2012.00606.x</u>

[128] Durbeej, N., Elgán, T., Jalling, C., and Gripenberg, J. (2016). Alcohol prevention at sporting events: Study protocol for a quasi-experimental control group study. BMC Public Health. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/303827171_Alcohol_prevention_at_sporting_events_Study_protocol_for_a_quasi-

experimental_control_group_study

[129] Trendl, A., Stewart, N. and Mullet, T.L. (2021). The role of alcohol in the link between national football (soccer) tournaments and domestic abuse - Evidence from England. Social Science & Medicine Volume 268, January 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953620306766</u>

[130] Trendl, A., Stewart, N. and Mullet, T.L. (2021). The role of alcohol in the link between national football (soccer) tournaments and domestic abuse - Evidence from England. Social Science & Medicine Volume 268, January 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953620306766</u>

[131] Murray, K., Murphy, C., Herlihy, A., McCaffrey, J., Codd, M., & Murray, F. E. (2022). Harmful alcohol consumption in elite sports players in Ireland. Irish journal of medical science, 191(5), 2091–2098. Available at: <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC8545772/</u>

[132] Graham, K., Bernards, S., Wilsnack, S.C., and, Gmel, G. (2010). Alcohol May Not Cause Partner Violence But It Seems to Make It Worse: A Cross National Comparison of the Relationship Between Alcohol and Severity of Partner Violence. J Interpers Violence. 2010 Jun 3;26(8):1503–1523. Available at: <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC3142677/</u>

[133] Lesch, M. and McCambridge, J. (2022). Understanding the Political Organization and Tactics of the Alcohol Industry in Ireland 2009–2018. University of York: York. Available at: https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC9318702/pdf/jsad.2022.83.574.pdf





Alcohol Action Ireland, Coleraine House, Coleraine Street, Dublin 7, D07 E8XF

alcoholireland.ie admin@alcoholactionireland.ie @AlcoholIreland